#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

- 1. Whether the evidence at trial was insufficient to prove that Appellant Delvin T. Neal intended to steal a wallet from Sillette Sheler.
- 2. Whether the trial court improperly refused to instruct the jury that the claim of right defense applied to the charge of robbery of Sheler.
- 3. Whether the trial court plainly erred when it failed to instruct the jury fully on the intent element of robbery.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND JURISDICTION

On Jan. 19, 2023, a grand jury indicted Appellant Delvin T. Neal on three charges related to an Oct. 29, 2022 incident in the parking lot at 333 Hawaii Avenue, Northeast: (1) robbery of a watch, earrings, and a chain from Andrew Street; (2) robbery of a wallet from Sillette Sheler; and (3) assault with significant bodily injury of Andrew Street. R. 13.

The Honorable Lynn Leibovitz presided over Neal's jury trial in late April and early May 2023. At the end of the government's case, Judge Leibovitz granted Neal's motion for judgment of acquittal on the charge of assault with significant bodily injury and instructed the jury instead on the lesser-included charge of assault. App. 2 (5/1/23 Tr. 11); 5/1/23 Tr. 159-60. On May 2, 2023, the jury acquitted Neal of both robbery and assault of Street and convicted Neal of the single count of robbery of the wallet from Sheler. R. 31. Exceeding the

government's recommended sentence, Judge Leibovitz sentenced Neal on June 30, 2023, to 68 months incarceration, followed by three years of supervised release. R. 39, 41. Neal timely appealed, and this appeal is from a final order that disposes of all parties' claims. R. 42.

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

In late October 2022, barber Delvin Neal bought a luxury watch that turned out to be fake. He confronted Andrew Street about the watch on Oct. 29, 2022, asking for a refund in the parking lot by Neal's barber shop at 333 Hawaii Avenue, Northeast. Unidentified men then attacked Street, and in the confusion that followed, Neal ended up with a wallet belonging to Street's mother, Sillette Sheler, as Sheler and Street drove away in Sheler's car.

The government's theory at trial (which the jury rejected) was that Neal orchestrated and aided in the parking lot assault on Street and took or aided and abetted in the taking of a watch and some jewelry from Street during the assault. *See* 5/1/23 Tr. 102-06, 108, 110. The government further argued that Neal then snatched Sheler's wallet from her immediate actual possession in order to get his money. *Id.* at 111-12. Defending himself against the charge of robbing Sheler, Neal argued that he never intended to steal her wallet and was only trying to get back his money from purchasing the fake watch. *See id.* at 116-17, 131-32, 140.

Sheler, Street, and Neal testified at trial, as did Metropolitan Police

Department (MPD) detectives Ryan Tran and Ryan Savoy. In addition, the jury
saw police body-worn camera footage and several clips of surveillance video from
the parking lot area at 333 Hawaii Avenue, and it heard Neal on recorded jail calls
made after his arrest. See App. Vol. II (Gov. Exhs. 201-205, 301, 302, 401-407).

Street and Sheler got to know Neal at the Changing Faces Barber Shop, where Neal would cut Street's hair. *See* 4/26/23 Tr. 78-79, 112, 174, 176; 4/27/23 Tr. 22; 5/1/23 Tr. 18, 45. Neal would also buy things from them, including belts, a barber bag, glasses, trinkets, and other things that he purchased from Sheler. 5/1/23 Tr. 21, 61. Neal believed that they had a consignment shop. *Id.* at 21. Among other activities, Street said he sold high-end watches that people in the music industry would send him. 4/27/23 Tr. 26-27, 30.

In late October 2022, Street and Sheler came to the barber shop, and Street showed Neal a Hublot watch. *See* 4/26/23 Tr. 118, 178-79; 5/1/23 Tr. 22. That day, in Sheler's presence, Neal purchased a Hublot watch for \$1,000 after verifying

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Neal includes the video clip and jail call exhibits in Volume II of his Limited Appendix. Government Exhibit 201 (4:00 minutes), Exhibit 202 (5:15 minutes), Exhibit 203 (5:13 minutes long), and Exhibit 204 (5:11 minutes) each show parts of the parking lot area at 333 Hawaii Avenue from different angles. Government Exhibit 205 is a compilation prepared by the government that combines Exhibits 202, 203, and 204, formatting them alongside each other to provide a broader view. See 4/27/23 Tr. 79-80. Government Exhibits 301 and 302 are excerpts from bodyworn camera footage, and Exhibits 401 to 407 are jail calls.

its authenticity on the internet with Street. 4/26/23 Tr. 118, 154, 175; 4/27/23 Tr. 30; 5/1/23 Tr. 61-62. When the watch came out verified, Neal paid Street in cash. 4/27/23 Tr. 55-57. According to Neal, they agreed that he could get his money back if the watch turned out not to be real. 5/1/23 Tr. 23.

Neal testified that later that same day, he noticed that the second hand on the watch was not working, so he took it to a watch store in Tysons Corner for repair. 5/1/23 Tr. 24. They told him the watch was fake, and Neal then called Street to ask for his money back. *Id.* at 25. Sheler, in the background of the call, told Neal that he was wrong, because "You know we don't sell fake things." *Id.* Street, who was upset that Neal had gone behind him to check the watch, hung up on Neal. *See id.* at 24-25. When Neal tried to call again, there was no answer. *Id.* at 25. He then tried texting daily because he wanted to return the watch and get his money back. *Id.* at 25-26. Disputing Neal's account, both Sheler and Street denied hearing from Neal about the watch being fake. 4/26/23 Tr. 119-20; 4/27/23 Tr. 34, 37-38.

On Oct. 29, 2022, Sheler and Street returned to the barber shop. According to Sheler, Neal had called before that day asking to purchase a second watch, spoke with Street, and told him when to come. 4/26/23 Tr. 119-20. According to Street, Neal had asked about buying a second watch when he bought the first one and then sent Street a message via Instagram about it. 4/26/23 Tr. 175-76; 4/27/23 Tr. 34. According to Neal, on the morning of Oct. 29, he had a client who was asking

about Neal's watch, so he texted Street to ask about another watch, and Street and Sheler arrived about forty-five minutes later. 5/1/23 Tr. 26-27.

When Street and Sheler arrived on Oct. 29 at the barber shop, Neal was cutting someone else's hair, and Sheler went to get coffee nearby. 4/26/23 Tr. 121, 178; 4/27/23 Tr. 35-36; 5/1/23 Tr. 27. Street showed Neal the watch on his wrist, 4/26/23 Tr. 179, but, according to Neal, his client said it was fake and refused to buy it. 5/1/23 Tr. 27-28. At that point, as Sheler returned with her coffee, Neal and Street left the barber shop and headed to the parking lot. 4/26/23 Tr. 121-23, 179; 4/27/23 Tr. 36. Neal explained that he asked Street to accompany him to Neal's parked truck, where Neal had the fake Hublot he had bought for \$1,000, so that Neal could return the watch. 5/1/23 Tr. 30.

Surveillance video from the afternoon of Oct. 29, 2022, shows Neal and Street walking to a parked vehicle but only reveals their legs while they were near that vehicle. *See* App. Vol. II (Gov. Exh. 201, 202, 203, 205). While the video captured images of other people arriving at the parking lot and - after Neal and Street left the area by the first vehicle - engaging in an altercation with Street for about fifteen to twenty seconds, it does not clearly depict exactly what happened. *See id*.

Street testified that, at Neal's truck, Neal asked for his money back for the first watch, and Street refused. 4/26/23 Tr. 182-83; 4/27/23 Tr. 38. According to

Street, Neal then began to punch him multiple times. 4/26/23 Tr. 183-84, 204; *see* 4/27/23 Tr. 41. As Street tried to flee, more people arrived and beat Street, taking his watch, chain, and earrings. *See* 4/26/23 Tr. 187-89, 191, 204; 4/27/23 Tr. 48-50.

Neal, in contrast, testified that when he handed the watch to Street by the truck, Street knocked it out of his hands and then lunged at him in what Neal perceived as a threatening manner. 5/1/23 Tr. 31-33, 37. Neal struck back with one punch. *Id.* at 31, 34, 36, 41. He denied assaulting Street further, taking any of Street's property, and knowing the men who did beat Street. *Id.* at 36, 40, 42-44.

After a few moments, Sheler emerged from the barber shop, alerted by one of the barbers. *See* 4/26/23 Tr. 84-85, 124; 5/1/23 Tr. 45; App. Vol. II (Gov. Exh. 202, 203, 205). She said she stepped in and asked Neal, "What are you doing?" 4/26/23 Tr. 84, 86, 125, 134-35; 5/1/23 Tr. 45; *see also* 4/26/23 Tr. 192, 195 (Street testifying that his mother intervened and told them to get off her son). Then she, Street, and Neal walked over toward her car, a four-door Nissan Altima. 4/26/23 Tr. 91, 148; 4/27/23 Tr. 57.

Accounts of what happened next diverged at trial. According to Sheler, Neal snatched her keys as she tried to get Street into the car, but Street reflexively snatched them back before he sat in the car. 4/26/23 Tr. 91-93. After that, Neal went into the back of the car and opened the trunk, but Sheler and Street hit it

down.<sup>2</sup> *Id.* at 93. As Sheler continued to the driver's side of the car and opened the front door, Neal opened the back door on the driver's side of the car and took her black Coach wallet from her black purse on the floor of the car. *Id.* at 93-94, 149, 151-52. When Sheler tried to snatch the wallet back, Neal raised it up and said she could not have it back until she gave him a thousand dollars. *Id.* at 95, 153. Then Sheler shut her door and drove away with Street. *Id.* at 96-97.

According to Street, Neal tried to get the car keys from Sheler but did not succeed. 4/26/23 Tr. 196; 4/27/23 Tr. 57. Instead, Street himself snatched them first and ran to the other side of the car, telling his mother to get in. 4/26/23 Tr. 196; 4/27/23 Tr. 57, 59. Street testified that Neal went into the front seat and took the wallet from the middle console of the car, saying, "I'll give you your things back when you give me my money back." 4/26/23 Tr. 197; see 4/27/23 Tr. 60. Then Street went to the nearby Chinese carry-out to ask for help, begged his mother to stop arguing with Neal, and left in the car. 4/26/23 Tr. 197-98.

According to Neal, after Sheler came outside, he tried to help her get to her car because he did not want her to be assaulted during the scuffle. 5/1/23 Tr. 45. He opened the door to her car because he was trying to get her into it. *Id.* at 55. While other people tried to rummage through the car, Neal tried to stay between

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Sheler acknowledged on cross-examination that the surveillance video (Gov. Exh. 204) did not show the trunk open. 4/26/23 Tr. 148, 152.

them and Sheler. *Id.* at 54. He did not lean or go into the car or take anything out of the car. *Id.* at 55-56. While this was going on, Sheler dropped her wallet on the ground on the side of the car in her confusion, and Neal picked it up. *Id.* at 46; *see id.* at 57. He testified that he did not intend to take it from her – he did not want the wallet. *Id.* at 46-47. When she got into the car, he told her he would give her the wallet back if she gave him back his thousand dollars. *Id.* at 47. When he said that, his intent was to give the wallet back to Sheler or Street. *Id.* Sheler and Street then left in the car, and Neal walked back to the barber shop, still holding the wallet. *Id.* at 58. He resumed cutting hair. *Id.* at 58-59.

Surveillance video captured some of what happened by Sheler's car, but much of the video is obscured by glare. App. Vol. II (Gov. Exh. 204). When Sheler, Street, and Neal appeared, followed closely by a man in a purple hat who had been beating Street a few moments earlier, *see* 4/27/23 Tr. 49-50, Street went toward the passenger side, and Neal and Sheler went to the driver's side front door. Gov. Exh. 204 (timestamp 2:20-2:27). As Sheler then turned to go around the front of the car toward Street, Neal apparently opened the front door. *Id.* (2:29-2:30). With the driver's door remaining open, Sheler then seemed to push Street away from the passenger side front door toward the front of the car, with Neal following them empty-handed. *Id.* (2:44-2:48). About fifteen seconds later, Sheler and then Street returned to the passenger side of the car. *Id.* (3:01-3:05). Another ten

seconds or so later, Neal approached the driver's side of the car; his image then disappears into the glare. *Id.* (3:16). A person, apparently Sheler, next appeared to get into the car at the front driver's side door, as Neal walked around the front of the car from the passenger side to the driver's side holding a black object in his right hand. *Id.* (3:25-3:42). Ten seconds later, Neal exited from camera view, *id.* (3:53), the driver's side door closed, *id.* (4:01), and the car departed. *Id.* (4:19-4:30).

At some point after the incident at 333 Hawaii Avenue, Street and Sheler went to the MPD's Fourth District police station, *see* 4/26/23 Tr. 6, 7, 18, 97, 198; 4/27/23 Tr. 61, 72; App. Vol. II (Gov. Exh. 302), where Detective Ryan Tran was assigned to the case as lead detective, with assistance from Detective Ryan Savoy. 4/26/23 Tr. 44. Later that afternoon, the two detectives met Neal wearing a barber apron as he walked from the barber shop to his truck in the parking lot at 333 Hawaii Avenue. 4/26/23 Tr. 27, 45, 46, 52, 73. They spoke with him there before then arresting him. 4/26/23 Tr. 46, 53.

At trial, the jury heard a few minutes of the detectives' conversation with Neal captured by MPD Officer Alosomon's body-worn camera. 4/27/23 Tr. 76; App. Vol. II (Gov. Exh. 301). As depicted in the video clip, Savoy asked Neal what happened, and Neal explained that he was having a conversation with one guy about a watch he had bought when others pulled up and beat him. App. Vol. II

(Gov. Exh. 301). Through the clip of the conversation, Neal was holding a black wallet in his hand, and after a little more than one and half minutes, he showed the wallet to Savoy and said, "This is actually his mom's wallet. I was about to go run it to this address." *Id.* (timestamp 1:42). Savoy asked him to set the wallet on the car, and Neal complied. *Id.* (1:50). Then Neal showed Savoy the watch he had previously bought for one thousand dollars. *Id.* (2:04); 4/27/23 Tr. 123. Savoy asked what the agreement or understanding was that day when they met, and Neal explained that one of his clients wanted to buy a watch, and Neal was acting as a middleman. App. Vol. II (Gov. Exh. 301) (2:27-3:05).

Tran took the wallet that Neal set down, looked in it, and saw identification with Sheler's name on it. 4/27/23 Tr. 77; see 4/26/23 Tr. 71-72. Neal also gave Tran a Hublot watch, but it was unclear at trial whether it was the watch Neal had purchased for \$1,000 or a different watch. 4/27/23 Tr. 122, 130; see 4/26/23 Tr. 71; see also 4/27/23 Tr. 133-34 (Tran never asked Street to confirm which watch it was). The officers then arrested Neal. 4/27/23 Tr. 123; 4/26/23 Tr. 53.

The government also introduced at trial seven excerpts from Neal's telephone calls from jail after his arrest. *See* App. Vol. II (Gov. Exh. 401-407). In those clips, which were mostly consistent with the content of Neal's trial testimony, Neal expressed frustration with the fact that the watch was fake, said that he expected to get his money back, and described what had happened when

Sheler and Street arrived at the barber shop on Oct. 29, 2022. *See id.* (Gov. Exh. 401, 402, 403, 405, 406). He mentioned the wallet only once, saying the lady left it in the barber shop. *See id.* (Gov. Exh. 404). According to the call, when he spoke to them about his money, she said, "I'm gonna go get your money," and they hopped in the car and came back later with the police. *Id.* 

The defense moved for a judgment of acquittal after the close of the government's case, 5/1/23 Tr. 4, which the trial court granted as to assault with significant injury, reducing that charge to the lesser included offense of simple assault. App. 2 (*id.* at 11). The trial court denied the motion as to the two robbery charges. *See* App. 2-5 (*id.* at 11-14).

Over the government's objection, the trial court granted the defense request for a jury instruction on the claim of right defense as to the Street robbery charge. App. 31 (5/1/23 Tr. 92); *see* R. 28 (email). The trial court refused, however, to extend that instruction to the Sheler robbery. App. 32 (5/1/23 Tr. 93). It explained that it had looked at how the claim of right defense is applied in other jurisdictions, most of which - it claimed - do not allow the claim of right defense to take back "illegally gotten gains," like drug money. App. 29 (*id.* at 90). According to the trial court, that has not been the rationale used in the District, and the trial court characterized this court's claim of right jurisprudence as "a little bit antiquated .... Our Court of Appeals has never sort of come into the modern era in the way other

states have." App. 30 (*id.* at 91); *accord, id.* ("it's a bit of a primitive approach to allow violence to retake even property that specifically itself has been taken from you."). Instead, rather than focusing on illegality, the claim of right defense does not apply in the District if someone takes more than they are entitled to, according to the trial court. *See* App. 29-31 (*id.* at 90-92).

The trial court further stated that, "from the oldest cases that apply here, Smith and – rather Smith and Robertson – the holdings have been that claim of right is particularized to the property taken." App. 28 (id. at 89). On that basis, it would let the jury decide whether Neal had a good-faith belief that he had a right to take the watch from Street and whether he took more from Street than what was owed him. App. 31-32 (id. at 92-93). But as to Sheler, the trial court stated,

[T]here is absolutely no claim of right and [it denied] the instruction as to Ms. Sheler because the taking of a wallet, which is in no respect, the property originally taken or for which he is owed money, and is in no respect the money he is owed. And because Ms. Sheler, he did not have a good-faith belief that Ms. Sheler engaged in the transaction, though he may have known that she also sold things at times. There is no basis in this record for him to reasonably and honestly conclude that she was the one that sold him the watch.

App. 32 (id. at 93).

Ultimately, the trial court instructed the jury on the intent element of robbery and the claim of right defense as follows, adding some language to the standard claim of right jury instruction to reflect the trial court's understanding of the defense:

# **ROBBERY** 4.300

In counts I and II defendant is charged with robbery. Count I refers specifically to Andrew Street. Count II refers specifically to Sillette Sheler. The elements of the offense of robbery, each of which the government must prove beyond a reasonable doubt, are that:

\* \* \*

6. He took the property without right to it and intending to steal it;

\* \* \*

The government must establish that the defendant had no right to take the property, and that he intended to steal it. There can be no robbery if the defendant takes the property for a lawful purpose. It is necessary that the defendant intended to deprive complainant of his/her property and to take it for his own use.

## **CLAIM OF RIGHT 9.521**

An element of the offense of robbery is that the defendant had the specific intent to steal. You have heard evidence that the defendant believed he had the right to take the property. If a person takes the property of another in the good-faith belief that he has the right to take it, the specific intent element of robbery is lacking. It does not matter that the defendant actually had a right to the property. It is only necessary that he believed in good faith that he was entitled to or could legally take the property.

A good-faith belief is a generally held and honest belief. A person has no claim of right defense to robbery if he did not have a good-faith belief that he had a legal right to claim ownership of the actual property taken, or if he took more than the property he had a good-faith belief he had a right to take.

This claim of right instruction applies only to Count I, the charge of the robbery of Andrew Street. It does not apply to Count II, the charge of robbery of Sillette Sheler....

The government must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that defendant did not believe in good faith that he had a right to take the property. If it does not do so, you must find him not guilty.

R. 30 at 6-7 (emphasis added to indicate language added to Crim. Jury Instruction for D.C., No. 9.521); *accord*, 5/1/23 Tr. 156, 158-59.

The jury began deliberations on May 1, 2023, and sent a note the following morning inquiring (1) whether all seven elements of robbery needed to be individually satisfied, and (2) what the legal definition is of "took" or "taken." 5/2/23 Tr. 3; R. 32. The trial court responded yes to the first question, and it explained that to prove taking, the government had to prove an actual physical taking of property by the defendant or someone the defendant was aiding and abetting. 5/2/23 Tr. 6-7; R. 33. It also reminded the jury to follow all the instructions in considering the offense. *Id.* Later that afternoon, the jury returned its verdicts acquitting Neal of both charges related to Street and convicting him only of the Sheler robbery. 5/2/23 Tr. 9-10; R. 31.

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