BRIEF FOR APPELLEE

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

No. 23-CF-560

DELVIN NEAL,

v.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA CRIMINAL DIVISION

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT

MATTHEW M. GRAVES **United States Attorney**

CHRISELLEN R. KOLB ELIZABETH H. DANELLO KATHLEEN E. HOUCK STEPHANIE DINAN

- * KEVIN BIRNEY, D.C. Bar # 1029424 **Assistant United States Attorneys**
- * Counsel for Oral Argument 601 D Street, NW, Room 6.232 Washington, D.C. 20530 Kevin.Birney@usdoj.gov (202) 252-6829

Cr. No. 2022-CF3-6466

Clerk of the Court

Received 05/22/2024 02:35 PM Filed 05/22/2024 02:35 PM

Appellant,

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

⁶ This Court should decline to give any persuasive authority to *State v*. *Sawyer*, 100 A. 461, 462-63 (Conn. 1920) (recognizing the potential (continued . . .)

Neal's point (at 26) that a wallet is "commonly used to store money" does not change the analysis. Even assuming that Neal had a right to take money, a wallet is not coterminous with currency. In our modern, often cashless society, it is not reasonable to assume that a wallet contains any cash at all, let alone any set amount that one believes one is owed.⁷ It is fair to assume, however, that a wallet contains items perhaps even more precious than cash, such as a driver's license, credit cards, and other important and private materials. *See, e.g., Williams v. United States*, 113 A.3d 554, 556 (D.C. 2015) (wallet did not contain money but did contain a driver's license, Metro card, bank cards, union cards, and business cards). Thus, even if Neal did believe he was entitled to \$1,000, he did not have a good-faith belief that he was entitled to the

defense when a lodging-house owner took the lodger's handbag because he believed she owed him \$5), *cited in* Appellant Br. at 26-27. *Sawyer* is an out-of-jurisdiction case that was decided over 100 years ago, and therefore provides a poor guide for how this Court should shape its jurisprudence.

⁷ Thus, Neal's citations (at 26) to cases which do not even explicitly equate a wallet with cash are inapt. *See Richardson*, 403 F.2d at 575 (defendant took the money and not the wallet); *Rhodes*, 354 A.2d at 864 & n.4 (no reasoning equating money with wallets). Indeed, Neal's citation (at 26) to *Williams* proves the point that a wallet and cash do *not* equate—the victim in that case was not carrying any money in his wallet. 113 A.3d at 556.

wallet. See, e.g., Simmons, 554 A.2d at 1170 n.8 ("We note that appellant was charged in the indictment with robbing Stewart of 'a pocketbook and its contents,' not just the \$30 which he said Stewart owed him. Thus, even if he had a right to take the \$30, as he asserted, he had no right to take the purse and the rest of its contents."); (Steven) Wilson, 266 A.3d at 238 (doubtful that claim-of-right instruction would have been appropriate where defendants took victim's personal items in addition to defendant's belongings); Robertson, 429 A.2d at 195 (doubtful that claim-of-right instruction would be warranted where defendant took more than what he claimed he was owed); (Curtis) Smith, 330 A.2d at 521 (claim-of-right defense unsupported where defendant took more than what he claimed he was owed).

Finally, Neal's suggestion (at 29) that the trial court erred when denying the instruction because it believed that Neal may have engaged in an illegal transaction is incorrect both legally and factually. Legally, this Court has never held that one can avail himself of the claim-of-right defense after he engages in an illegal transaction. *See, e.g., Simmons,* 554 A.2d at 1169 n.5 ("This [C]ourt has never held that one may use 'forcible self-help' to recover what is essentially an illegal debt."). It has, however, suggested that one cannot raise the defense in such circumstances. *See, e.g. Townsend*, 549 A.2d at n.7 ("We have never held that a person can use forcible self-help to retake illegal drugs from another. Nor do we now . . . for to do so would be to give our imprimatur to an act the completion of which is itself a criminal offense.").⁸

But in any event, the trial court did not deny Neal's request on that basis. The trial court found that Neal was not entitled to the instruction as to the wallet because (1) Sheler did not sell him the watch, and (2) the wallet was not a watch or money (5/1/23 Tr. 81, 88-89, 91-94). Neither of those reasons relied on any illegality in the transaction.⁹ Indeed, the trial

⁸ (*Curtis*) Smith, Rhodes, and Richardson do not hold otherwise. See Appellant Br. at 29 (citing all three cases). (*Curtis*) Smith and Rhodes held that a claim-of-right defense was inappropriate. See (*Curtis*) Smith, 330 A.2d at 521; Rhodes, 354 A.2d at 864. And in Richardson, although the victim had been convicted of a gambling offense, it is not clear from the court's opinion that the gambling transaction that precipitated the robbery was illegal. See 403 F.2d at 575 (making no mention of any illegality when discussing the transaction). Nor did the court analyze the specific question as to what effect any illegality would have on the appropriateness of the defense. See id. at 575-76.

⁹ The trial court did briefly mention the illegality issue, but it did so in a tangential discussion about the defense in general (5/1/23 Tr. 90-91). It did not purport to rely on any illegality when actually explaining the basis for its decision (5/1/23 Tr. 81, 88-89, 91-94; see also 5/1/23 Tr. 90-91 (trial court notes prior precedent but recognizes that "the rationale in (continued . . .)

court, at sentencing, essentially disavowed any reliance on the illegality of the transaction because it noted that the government had failed to provide a sufficient basis to believe that the transaction was illegal (6/30/23 Tr. 8 (noting that the theory that Neal "knew he was receiving stolen property" was "not an argument that was developed in the evidence to address [Neal's] claim of right, and that is why he got his claim of right [instruction]")). This Court therefore need not reach the question of whether a defendant can have a claim-of-right defense when he engages in an illegal transaction.

In sum, Neal was not entitled to a claim-of-right instruction as to Sheler's wallet. Sheler did not sell him the watch, and, even if she had,

that case was not that the illegality of the services was the problem. It was that he took more than [he] was entitled to.")).

Neal also speculates (at 24 n.6) that the trial court may "have been improperly influenced by its belief that this court's approach to the claim of right defense is 'primitive' and 'antiquated,' in contrast to some other jurisdictions" (citing 5/1/23 Tr. 91). The trial court made those comments as an aside, however. When it actually delivered its ruling, the court relied on the facts that Sheler had not sold Neal the watch, and her wallet was not a watch or cash (5/1/23 Tr. 81, 88-89, 93-94). Rather than disavow the defense, then, the trial court properly applied it. Indeed, the trial court gave the claim-of-right instruction as to the robbery count against Street (*id.* at 79-81; R. 30 at 7).

Neal did not have a good-faith belief that he could take a totally unrelated object as ransom.

C. The Trial Court Did Not Plainly Err by Not Further Defining the Intent Element of Robbery.

The trial court instructed the jury that one of the elements of robbery that the government must prove was that the defendant took the property "intending to steal it" (5/1/23 Tr. 156; see also *id.* at 158 ("An element of the offense of robbery is that the defendant had the specific intent to steal.")). Neal argues (at 30-34) that the trial court plainly erred when it did not elaborate on this intent-to-steal element by instructing that the jury had to find that Neal intended to deprive Sheler of the wallet permanently or to make use of it in a way inconsistent with her rights. Neal cannot meet the exacting requirements of plain-error review.

First, Neal cannot show any error at all, let alone plain error. Robbery is criminalized by D.C. Code § 22-2801, which provides: "Whoever by force or violence, whether against resistance or by sudden or stealthy seizure or snatching, or by putting in fear, shall take from the person or immediate actual possession of another anything of value, is guilty of robbery." In this jurisdiction, robbery "retains its common law elements[.]" Williams, 113 A.3d at 560 (internal quotation omitted). The common-law offense of robbery thus "requires proof of the elements of theft plus several aggravating circumstances." Gray v. United States, 155 A.3d 377, 382 (D.C. 2017). Specifically, robbery requires the government to prove that the defendant "(1) took property of some value, (2) from [the complainant's] person or immediate actual possession, (3) against her will, (4) by force or violence, 10 (5) and carried the property away, (6) without right and with the intent to steal it." Bailey v. United States, 257 A.3d 486, 499 (D.C. 2021); see also Lattimore v. United States, 684 A.2d 357, 359-60 (D.C. 1996) (defining elements as: "(1) a felonious taking, (2) accompanied by an asportation [or carrying away], of (3) personal property of value, (4) from the person of another or in his presence, (5) against his will, (6) by violence or by putting him in fear, [and] (7) animo *furandi* [the intention to steal]") (internal quotation omitted; brackets in original).

In instructing that the government was required to prove that Neal had "the specific intent to steal" (5/1/23 Tr. 158), the trial court correctly

 $^{^{10}}$ The force or violence can be satisfied by a sudden seizure or snatching. Bailey, 257 A.3d at 499.

followed the case law defining the offense of robbery. Neither intent to deprive the owner of the property permanently or intent to use the property in a way inconsistent with the owner's rights is among the elements this Court has stated the government must prove. See, e.g., Lattimore, 684 A.2d at 359-60.¹¹ Neal fails to show that the trial court was obliged sua sponte to elaborate on the elements of the offense. See Guishard v. United States, 669 A.2d 1306, 1315 (D.C. 1995) ("A trial court is under no obligation to define particular terms in its jury instructions, nor does it have a general duty to instruct the jury sua sponte."), abrogated on other grounds by Robinson v. United States, 100 A.3d 95, 105-08 (D.C. 2014); accord Allen v. United States, 495 A.2d 1145, 1150 (D.C. 1985) (en banc) ("The trial court has no general duty to instruct the jury sua sponte."); see also Curington v. United States, 621 A.2d 819, 823 (D.C. 1993) ("The statutory definition of the term 'pistol,' however, is just that—a *definition* of a term included in one of the elements. It is not an

¹¹ Nor does the standard jury instruction for robbery include such language. *See* Criminal Jury Instructions for the District of Columbia, No. 4.300 (2024).

element of the statutory offense that the trial court was required to specifically include as part of the jury instructions.").

We recognize that *Lattimore* indicated that an intent to permanently deprive is a requirement for larceny. *See* 684 A.2d at 360. That statement contradicts prior binding precedent, however. *See Mitchell v. United States*, 394 F.2d 767, 771 (D.C. Cir. 1968) ("[W]e therefore reject appellants' contention that larceny requires an intent to appropriate property permanently.");¹² see also In re Gil, 656 A.2d 303, 305 n.7 (D.C. 1995) ("[T]heft under District law 'does not require an intent to appropriate property permanently.") (quoting *Fredericks v. United States*, 306 A.2d 268, 270 (D.C. 1973)). Neal therefore errs (at 32) when he claims that an intent to permanently deprive is a requirement for larceny, and by extension, robbery.¹³

¹² Lattimore cited Durphy v. United States, 235 A.2d 326 (D.C. 1967), but at the time that Durphy was issued, the D.C. Circuit was the highest court in this jurisdiction. See M.A.P. v. Ryan, 285 A.2d 310, 311-12 (D.C. 1971). The D.C. Court of Appeals operated as an intermediate appellate court that was reviewable by the D.C. Circuit. Id. Accordingly, this Court is bound by Circuit cases decided before February 1, 1971, and Mitchell prevails over Durphy. See M.A.P., 285 A.2d at 312.

¹³ Neither Groomes v. United States, 155 A.2d 73 (D.C. 1959), nor Morissette v. United States, 342 U.S. 246 (1952), holds otherwise. See (continued...)

But in any event, given the conflicting authority over whether the intended deprivation must be permanent, any error cannot have been plain. An error is "plain" for purposes of plain-error review if it is "clear" or "obvious." *Wheeler v. United States*, 930 A.2d 232, 245 (D.C. 2007) (internal quotation omitted). In other words, the claimed error must be "clearly at odds with established and settled law." *Id.* Because there is no "established and settled law" that robbery requires an intent to deprive the owner permanently of the property, Neal cannot show that the failure to instruct on that point was plainly erroneous.

Similarly, Neal cannot show any obvious error with respect to the failure to instruct the jury that it had to find that a defendant intended

Appellant Br. at 18-19, 32. *Groomes* did not decide that an intent to permanently deprive was an element of larceny or robbery; it merely mentioned the concept while reciting (and summarily rejecting) the appellant's argument. 155 A.2d at 75-76. *Morissette* concerned whether the defendant thought that property was abandoned when he was charged with the taking of government property (not larceny or robbery). 342 U.S. at 248-49, 276. Moreover, *Morissette* did not purport to establish permanent deprivation as a common-law requirement of larceny. Instead, it merely referenced "the criminal intent to steal or knowingly convert, that is, wrongfully to deprive another of possession of property," without specifying that that deprivation had to be permanent. *Id.* at 276; *see also id.* at 271 (briefly noting that "[t]o steal means to take away from one in lawful possession without right with the intention to keep wrongfully" without specifying that the defendant must permanently deprive the owner of the property).

to make use of the property in a way inconsistent with the owner's rights. Neal cites no authority, and we are aware of none, for the proposition that a trial court in a robbery case must include such an instruction. Thus, any error cannot be plain. *See Wheeler*, 930 A.2d at 245.

Finally, even if Neal could show error that was plain, he cannot show that the error affected his substantial rights or that it seriously affected the fairness, integrity, or public reputation of judicial proceedings. Given the instructions as a whole, which required the jury to find that Neal took the property "against the will of the complainant" and that he did so "without right to it and intending to steal it" (R. 30 at 6), an ordinary juror would assume the need to find more than a temporary deprivation or one that would allow the owner still to use the property. See, e.g., United States v. Owens, 332 A.2d 752, 754 & n.4 (D.C. 1975) (stressing the ordinary meaning of "steal" as "[t]o take, and carry away feloniously and, usually, unobserved; to take or appropriate without right or leave, and with intent to keep or make use of wrongfully; as, to steal money or another's goods"); see also id. at 754 (reiterating that the word "steal" inherently encapsulates "a taking or property" with "intent to deprive the possessor of its use").

Moreover, given the evidence, Neal cannot show that the jury, if given the additional instructions, would have found that Neal took the wallet but that he did not intend to keep it or to deprive Sheler of her use of it. Neal did not dispute that he took Sheler's wallet and said he would return it only if she gave him \$1,000 (5/1/23 Tr. 47). In other words, if she did not pay him that amount, he would keep the wallet. There was no guarantee that Sheler would or could pay Neal his steep asking price of \$1,000. Given the conditional nature of Neal's offer to return the wallet and his lack of control over whether the onerous condition would be satisfied, Neal cannot satisfy his burden to show that the additional language he requests would have made any difference at trial or was necessary to ensure the fairness, integrity, or public reputation of judicial proceedings. See, e.g., (Wesley) Wilson v. United States, 785 A.2d 321, 328-29 (D.C. 2001) (no reversible plain error in failing to further define "serious bodily injury" because the evidence was sufficient that the defendant had inflicted serious bodily injury); Curington, 621 A.2d at 821-22 (no reversible plain error in not defining "pistol" because "there is no question that appellant shot and killed the decedent while armed with a pistol, and the procedures at trial were essentially fair").

II. The Evidence Was Sufficient to Support Neal's Conviction.

Finally, Neal argues (at 17-21) that the evidence was insufficient to support his conviction. This argument is without merit.

A. Standard of Review and Applicable Legal Principles

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